No. 70652-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JUAN MARTINEZ-CASILLAS,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary I. Yu

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- There was insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict that Mr. Martinez-Casillas was guilty of second degree criminal trespass.
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to suppress the cycle seized pursuant to a defective search warrant.
- 3. The search warrant authorizing the search of Mr. Martinez-Casillas' apartment for the cycle was not supported by probable cause in violation of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.
- 4. To the extent it may be considered a finding of fact, in the absence of substantial evidence, the trial court erred in entering Conclusion of Law 10, ruling the search warrant for the bicycle was supported by probable cause.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. Due process requires the State prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Martinez-Casillas was convicted of second degree criminal trespass, yet the State failed to prove that he entered the residence. Is Mr. Martinez-Casillas entitled to reversal of his conviction for a failure of the State to prove he was guilty of second degree criminal trespass beyond a reasonable doubt?

2. Under the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7, a search warrant may only be issued upon probable cause. A police officer's opinion, without more, does not provide probable cause. Here, an officer's opinion was the only facts purporting to supply the necessary probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant for a search of Mr. Martinez-Casillas' residence. Is this Court required to suppress the bicycle seized as a result of the search pursuant to the search warrant where the warrant lacked probable cause?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 9, 2012, Lynn Christiansen returned to her house and discovered several items missing, including two laptop computers.

6/4/2013RP 47-48. There were no signs of forced entry into the home.

6/3/2013RP 159. Police officers investigating discovered one of the screens for one of the windows in the shrubbery. 6/5/2013RP 160. Ms. Christiansen claimed the screen was attached to the window when she left in the morning. 6/4/2013RP 52. The police obtained fingerprints on the screen that matched Mr. Martinez-Casillas' prints. 6/3/2013RP 166-67, 6/5/2013RP 32-35. Based upon this evidence, Mr. Martinez-Casillas was charged with residential burglary. CP 16-17.

In an unrelated investigation into a pair of robberies, Issaguah Police officers obtained a search warrant to search Mr. Martinez-Casillas' apartment for evidence of the robberies. 5/28/2013RP 127, 142-43. While searching the residence, Sergeant Nash noticed a bicycle he characterized as "expensive" that had no front wheel attached. 5/28/2013RP 143. Nash, a self-described bicycle enthusiast, stated he owned a bicycle that was the same brand as the bicycle he observed in Mr. Martinez-Casillas' residence. 5/28/2013RP 145. Nash opined this was a very expensive bicycle and nothing he observed in the rest of the residence lead him to believe Mr. Martinez-Casillas was a bicycle enthusiast. 5/28/2013RP 148-50. Nash seized the bicycle and turned it over, looking for a serial number. 5/28/2013RP 151. Nash left the bicycle where he found it. 5/28/2013RP 152. Recognizing the initial search warrant did not authorize the search and/or seizure of the bicycle, and based upon Nash's observations, the police obtained a search warrant to seize the bicycle. 5/28/2013RP 153-55. The affidavit for the search warrant did not include any reference to the Nash's seizing the bicycle, turning it over, and recording the serial number. CP Supp , Pretrial Exhibit 9.

Mr. Martinez-Casillas was charged with first degree possession of stolen property. CP 16. Following the evidentiary hearing on Mr. Casillas' motion to suppress, the trial court ruled Nash's act of seizing the bicycle and turning it over was a material omission and ordered the bicycle suppressed. 5/29/2013RP 6-8. On reconsideration, the court added the subsequent information that Nash had disclosed and that was not in the affidavit, reweighed the probable cause, and found the seizure of the bicycle pursuant to the search warrant lawful. CP 150-51; 5/29/2013RP 83.

Mr. Martinez-Casillas was tried for two counts of first degree robbery, one count of residential burglary, and one count of first degree possession of stolen property. CP 15-17. Mr. Martinez-Casillas was convicted of the robberies and the possession of stolen property, but was acquitted of residential burglary. CP 129-32. The jury convicted Mr. Martinez-Casillas of the lesser included offense of second degree criminal trespass. CP 133.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE MR.
 MARTINEZ-CASILLAS ENTERED MS.
 CHRISTIANSEN'S RESIDENCE
- a. The State bears the burden of proving each of the essential elements of the charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. The State is required to prove each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend XIV; Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 471, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). The standard the reviewing court uses in analyzing a claim of insufficiency of the evidence is "[w]hether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). A challenge to the sufficiency of evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

b. The State failed to prove Mr. Martinez-Casillas entered or remained unlawfully on Ms. Christiansen's premises.

A person is guilty of second degree criminal trespass if "he knowingly enters or remains unlawfully in or upon premises of another under circumstances not constituting criminal trespass in the first degree." RCW 9A.52.080; *State v. Bellerouche*, 129 Wn.App. 912, 915, 120 P.3d 971 (2005). Second degree criminal trespass is applicable only in those situations where the defendant allegedly enters or remains unlawfully on private property not constituting a building, such as fenced land. *State v. Brittain*, 38 Wn.App. 740, 746, 689 P.2d 1095 (1984).

The only evidence presented by the State was that items were missing from Ms. Christianson's home, Mr. Martinez-Casillas' palm print was found on the damaged window screen outside the closed window. There was no evidence of forced entry into Ms.

Christianson's residence. 6/3/2013RP 159. In fact, the police made no attempt at finding any fingerprints inside the residence. 6/4/2013RP 124-25.

The State failed to prove Mr. Martinez-Casillas was guilty of second degree criminal trespass.

- c. Mr. Martinez-Casillas is entitled to reversal of his conviction with instructions to dismiss. Since there was insufficient evidence to support the conviction for second degree criminal trespass, this Court must reverse the conviction with instructions to dismiss. To do otherwise would violate double jeopardy. State v. Crediford, 130 Wn.2d 747, 760-61, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996) (the Double Jeopardy Clause of the United States Constitution "forbids a second trial for the purpose of affording the prosecution another opportunity to supply evidence which it failed to muster in the first proceeding."), quoting Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 9, 98 S.Ct. 2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978).
 - 2. THE SEARCH WARRANT AUTHORIZING SEIZURE OF THE BICYCLE LACKED PROBABLE CAUSE
- a. A search warrant must be supported by probable cause. The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the Washington State Constitution protect individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. The police must therefore have a search warrant issued upon probable cause in order to search unless an exception to the warrant requirement justifies a warrantless search. *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 454-

55, 91 S.Ct. 2022, 29 L.Ed.2d 564 (1971); State v. McKinnon, 88 Wn.2d 75, 79, 558 P.2d 781 (1977).

The warrant clauses of the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7 require that a trial court issue a search warrant only upon a determination of probable cause. *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 112, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). Probable cause to issue a warrant is established if the supporting affidavit sets forth facts sufficient for a reasonable person to conclude the defendant probably is involved in criminal activity. *State v. Huft*, 106 Wn.2d 206, 209, 720 P.2d 838 (1986). Probable cause for a search "requires a nexus between criminal activity and the item to be seized and between that item and the place to be searched." *State v. Neth*, 165 Wn.2d 177, 183, 196 P.3d 658 (2008).

The affidavit in support of the search warrant must also adequately show circumstances that extend beyond suspicion and mere personal belief that evidence of a crime will be found on the premises to be searched. *State v. Klinger*, 96 Wn.App. 619, 624, 980 P.2d 282 (1999), *citing State v. Seagull*, 95 Wn.2d 898, 907, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). The affidavit must be tested in a commonsense fashion. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 692, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998); *State v. Partin*, 88 Wn.2d 899, 904, 567 P.2d 1136

(1977). The existence of probable cause is a legal question which a reviewing court considers *de novo*. *State v. Chamberlin*, 161 Wn.2d 30, 40, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). Review is limited to the four corners of the affidavit. *Neth*, 165 Wn.2d at 182. "[T]he information [the court] may consider is the information that was available to the issuing magistrate." *State v. Olson*, 73 Wn.App. 348, 354, 869 P.2d 110 (1994).

b. The warrant was based solely on the officer's unsubstantiated "opinion" regarding the bicycle. Before a magistrate issues a search warrant, there must be an adequate showing of "circumstances going beyond suspicion and mere personal belief that criminal acts have taken place and that evidence thereof will be found in the premises to be searched." *State v. Patterson*, 83 Wn.2d 49, 58, 515 P.2d 496 (1973).

"The point of the Fourth Amendment, . . . which often is not grasped by zealous officers, is not that it denies law enforcement the support of the usual inferences which reasonable men draw from evidence. Its protection consists in requiring that those inferences be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime."

State v. Peterson, 3 Wn.App. 946, 947, 478 P.2d 745 (1970). Thus, the mere expression of an officer's opinion, without more, cannot form the

basis for the issuance of a search warrant. *State v. Spencer*, 9 Wn.App. 95, 97, 510 P.2d 833 (1973); *Peterson*, 3 Wn.App. at 947.

Here, the sole basis for the search warrant was the officer's opinion that Mr. Martinez-Casillas would not own a bicycle such as the one the observed. The officer based this entirely on what he observed inside the area where he discovered the bicycle, noting that there were no other bicycle accessories and also noting that the bicycle was missing its front tire and was laying amongst other non-bicycle related personal belongings. Yet the officer knew nothing about Mr. Martinez-Casillas; knew nothing about his hobbies, his income level, his interests or his willingness to spend a substantial sum for a bicycle. The warrant was based on nothing more than the officer's unsubstantiated belief that the bicycle was not Mr. Martinez-Casillas' bicycle. This was simply not enough to provide probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant.

c. Since the warrant lacked probable cause, the cycle must be suppressed. Where evidence is obtained as a direct result of an unconstitutional search, that evidence must . . . be excluded as "'fruit of the poisonous tree." *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 487-88, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).

The affidavit in support of the search warrant failed to establish probable cause for the search and seizure. Thus, the search warrant was without probable cause, and the fruit of the illegal search, the bicycle, must be suppressed.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, Mr. Martinez-Casillas asks this Court to reverse his conviction for second degree criminal trespass with instructions to dismiss. In addition, Mr. Martinez-Casillas asks that the bicycle be suppressed as the fruit of an illegal search and seizure and his conviction for possession of stolen property reversed.