NO. 70652-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JUAN MARTINEZ-CASILLAS,

Appellant.

COURT OF APPEALS DIV

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE MARY I. YU

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> NAMI KIM Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	1.	PROCEDURAL FACTS			
	2.	SUBSTANTIVE FACTS3			
		a.	Warrant #12-859	4	
		b.	Residential Burglary	6	
C.	ARGUMENT 9				
	1.	SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE CONVICTION FOR SECOND DEGREE CRIMINAL TRESPASS			
	2.		BABLE CAUSE SUPPORTED THE ANCE OF SEARCH WARRANT #12-859	12	
D.	CONCLUSION			18	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page Table of Cases
Federal:
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)9
Washington State:
<u>State v. Alvarez,</u> 128 Wn.2d 1, 904 P.2d 754 (1995)9
<u>State v. Cole</u> , 128 Wn.2d 262, 906 P.2d 925 (1995)
<u>State v. Fiser,</u> 99 Wn. App. 714, 995 P.2d 107, <u>review denied,</u> 141 Wn.2d 1023 (2000)
<u>State v. Fry,</u> 168 Wn.2d 1, 228 P.3d 1 (2010)
<u>State v. Goodman,</u> 150 Wn.2d 774, 83 P.3d 410 (2004)9
<u>State v. Maddox,</u> 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004)
<u>State v. Murray,</u> 110 Wn.2d 706, 757 P.2d 487 (1988)14
<u>State v. Ness</u> , 165 Wn.2d 177, 196 P.3d 658 (2008)4
<u>State v. Seagull,</u> 95 Wn.2d 898, 632 P.2d 44 (1981)
<u>State v. Spencer,</u> 9 Wn. App. 95, 510 P.2d 833 (1973)

<u>State v. Thein,</u> 138 Wn.2d 133, 977 P.2d 582 (1999)
<u>State v. Vickers</u> , 148 Wn.2d 91, 59 P.3d 58 (2002)
Constitutional Provisions
Federal:
U.S. Const. amend. XIV9
Statutes
Washington State:
RCW 9A.52.070
RCW 9A.52.080 10
Rules and Regulations
Washington State:
CrR 2.3
CrR 3.64

A. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. To prove the crime of second degree criminal trespass, the law requires that a defendant knowingly enter or remain unlawfully in or upon the premises of another. Here, the State established that a homeowner's unit had been burglarized and her items stolen, and that the defendant had left his fingerprints on the broken screen rails covering the window that served as the point of unlawful entry. Is this sufficient evidence for a trier of fact to find that the defendant committed second degree criminal trespass?
- 2. Probable cause exists to issue a search warrant when the supporting affidavit sets forth sufficient facts for a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and the place to be searched contains evidence of the crime. Here, the search warrant was based on (1) the discovery of a \$10,000 racing bicycle with only one wheel in the defendant's garage while executing a separate search warrant for evidence of the defendant's recent armed robberies; and

(2) confirmation by the bike's true owner that it had been stolen off of his roof rack without its front wheel. Given these circumstances, has Martinez-Casillas failed to show that the trial court issued the search warrant on less than probable cause?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

. , *, .

PROCEDURAL FACTS

Defendant Juan Martinez-Casillas was charged by amended information as follows: robbery in the first degree on September 20, 2012; robbery in the first degree on September 25, 2012; possessing stolen property in the first degree during a period of time intervening between June 22, 2012 through September 26, 2012; and residential burglary on August 9, 2012. CP 15-17. Trial by jury began in front of the Honorable Mary Yu on May 28, 2013. 2RP 3.1 Martinez-Casillas was found guilty as charged of possessing stolen property and both counts of robbery. CP 129-31. The jury acquitted him of residential burglary and found him guilty of the lesser included crime of criminal trespass in the second degree. CP 132, 134.

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings consists of ten volumes designated as follows: 1RP (February 11, 2013); 2RP (May 28, 2013); 3RP (May 29, 2013); 4RP (May 30, 2013); 5RP (June 3, 2013); 6RP (June 4, 2013); 7RP (June 5, 2013); 8RP (June 6, 2013); 9RP (June 7, 2013); 10RP (July 19, 2013).

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS²

. . . .

On September 20, 2012, a man entered a business called Lover's in Issaquah and robbed female employee Victoria Cox at gunpoint of her Samsung phone and all the cash in the register.

CP 3, 146-47. On September 25, 2012, a man matching the Issaquah robber's physical description robbed the Redmond Lover's store, also using a gun to take cash from a store employee.

CP 3-4, 13-14, 146-47. By tracking Cox's cell phone, police were eventually able to locate it inside Martinez-Casillas' car, which was parked across the street from his residence at the Park Hill Apartments in Issaquah. CP 3-4, 14, 147-48.

During a consensual search of Martinez-Casillas' car, police found a large bundle of cash, handgun bullets, Cox's phone, and clothing identical to those worn by the suspect in both robberies, all of which Martinez-Casillas claimed belonged to him. CP 4, 14, 148-49. Based on the above information, Issaquah Police Detective Ryan Raulerson applied for warrant #12-858 that same day to further search Martinez-Casillas' car and his residence for

² Because Martinez-Casillas challenges only the convictions for criminal trespass and possession of stolen property, the following summary will be limited primarily to the facts relevant to those two charges. As conceded by Martinez-Casillas, the evidence of those two charges and the robbery convictions are mostly unrelated for purposes of this appeal, as they involve different dates of violation, different victims and different locations. App. Br. 3; CP 3-4, 13-14.

evidence of the robberies. CP 5, 14, 149. During a search under that warrant, police found more cash, documents of dominion and control, and a pellet gun similar to that used in the robberies in Martinez-Casillas' car. Id.

a. Warrant #12-8593

, , , , ,

Issaquah Police Detective Sergeant Kevin Nash assisted in the search of Martinez-Casillas' garage on September 25, 2012 under warrant #12-858. Ex. 10 at 7. During the search, Nash noticed a Specialized brand S-works bicycle that was missing its front wheel. Id. Nash, who is knowledgeable regarding bicycles, recognized that this was an expensive racing bicycle. Id. He moved the bicycle in order to photograph it and record its serial number. Id.

The next day, Nash contacted a fellow officer and discovered that a Specialized S-works bicycle had been stolen off of a car at an Issaquah gym on June 16, 2012. Id. Nash contacted the true owner of the bicycle, Jeffrey Hoover, who provided a

³ The facts are taken solely from the modified affidavit supporting warrant #12-859. Ex. 10; see State v. Ness, 165 Wn.2d 177, 182, 196 P.3d 658 (2008) (reviewing court can only consider the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued). Martinez-Casillas' reliance on testimony at the CrR 3.6 hearing is misplaced.

detailed description of the bicycle, confirming that the front wheel was not with the bicycle at the time of the theft, and noted that the bicycle was valued at \$10,000. Id. Hoover described some damage to the seat tube that Nash was able to verify using the pictures he had taken. Id.

Det. Raulerson learned from an online database that

Martinez-Casillas had recently pawned a Trek brand bicycle on

August 28, 2012, and a Giant brand bicycle on August 25, 2012.

Ex. 10 at 8. Based on this and the information provided by Nash,

Raulerson wrote a second affidavit on September 26, 2012 to

recover the bike, which was still at Martinez-Casillas' residence,

under search warrant #12-859. 2RP 130; 6RP 156; Ex. 7.

The trial court found that the initial affidavit for warrant #12-859 had omitted the fact that Nash had picked up the bike and turned it over, which elevated the contact into a warrantless seizure. 3RP 5-7; CP 150; Ex. 7. Although the trial court initially suppressed evidence of the bicycle as a result, it later reversed its ruling and held that the proper analysis required inserting the omitted fact into the affidavit, excising any improperly obtained material that flowed from the seizure of the bike (in this case, the photographs and serial number of the bike), and then determining

whether the modified affidavit would support a finding of probable cause. 3RP 7-8, 83-84; CP 150-51; Ex. 10. After performing this analysis, the trial court held that the affidavit still supported probable cause and the bicycle was therefore admissible. 3RP 83; CP 150.

b. Residential Burglary

Prior to writing the affidavit for warrant #12-859, Raulerson had also learned that fingerprints found at a residential burglary on August 9, 2012 matched those of Martinez-Casillas; he therefore included a request to search for evidence of that crime under warrant #12-859 as well. 2RP 131; 6RP 46-47; Ex. 7.

In the burglary case, homeowner Lynn Christiansen had left for work sometime before 10:00 a.m. on August 9th and received a call mid-afternoon from her daughter saying that they had been burglarized. 6RP 47-49. When Christiansen came home at 3:30 p.m. to speak to police, she noticed that she was missing two Mac laptops, a backpack and a jar of money that had all been there when she had left that morning. 6RP 47-49.

A screen from one of Christiansen's windows that had been in place prior to the burglary had also been removed. 6RP 49-53.

The screen belonged to a three-pane window in front of the unit that was completely surrounded by a planter with vegetation. 5RP 160-64; 6RP 50-51; Ex. 53. The window was not near the main entry to the house, which was on the side of the unit with its own walkway. 5RP 161; 6RP 49-50; Ex.54. Christiansen neither knew nor gave permission to Martinez-Casillas to be in her home, and had not hired anyone in the time preceding the burglary to wash her windows or do any work inside or outside her house. 6RP 53-54.

Issaquah Police Officer Todd Johnson had found the screen discarded underneath Christiansen's nearby covered patio area.

5RP 160. He noted that the area in front of the window was not the type of place someone would walk if they were visiting the occupants, as the vegetation showed no signs of being used regularly or tamped down into a dirt path. 5RP 163. Johnson also noticed that the window itself, covered by the film of dirt typical of unwashed windows, had a handprint across it and a smear mark ending with a fingerprint on top of the smear. 5RP 160, 164.

Johnson lifted several fingerprints off the screen's rails and attempted to lift the one from the window but was unsuccessful.

5RP 166. He removed the screening material for ease in packaging and submitted the rails for fingerprint analysis to the

, , · · ·

King County Automated Fingerprint Identification System (AFIS) lab. 5RP 167; 6RP 129; Ex. 14.

. . .

AFIS latent print examiner Wade Anderson identified four prints of comparison value on the rails, which he marked as A, B, C and D. 7RP 25; Ex. 14. All four prints were identified as belonging to Martinez-Casillas. 7RP 33. Prints A and B were located on one rail, which had been damaged and was in two pieces. Ex. 14. Print A came from Martinez-Casillas' left palm and was located on the outside edge of the screen, to be distinguished from the inner edge where the screening material would be located. 7RP 25-26, 32; Ex. 14. Print B came from Martinez-Casillas' right ring finger and was located on the part of the rail facing inside the house. 7RP 29-30, 32; Ex. 14.

Prints C and D were located on the other rail, which was still in one piece. Ex. 14. Print C also came from Martinez-Casillas' left palm and was on the outside edge of the second rail. 7RP 30, 32; Ex. 14. Print D was from Martinez-Casillas' left index finger and was on the side facing the house. 7RP 33; Ex. 14. Based on the

⁴ Although Officer Johnson testified that Christiansen had told him that the screen had been damaged previously, Christiansen testified that it had not been damaged before the burglary. 5RP 160; 6RP 55.

placement and direction of the prints, Anderson demonstrated in court how Martinez-Casillas had held the rails. 7RP 29-33.

C. ARGUMENT

• • • •

1. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE CONVICTION FOR SECOND DEGREE CRIMINAL TRESPASS.

Martinez-Casillas challenges the sufficiency of the evidence of his conviction for second degree criminal trespass, claiming that the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he entered the Christiansen property. This argument fails because the State produced sufficient evidence for a rational trier of fact to find that Martinez-Casillas unlawfully entered the premises.

The Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution requires the State to prove every element of a charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); <u>State v. Alvarez</u>, 128 Wn.2d 1, 13, 904 P.2d 754 (1995). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in a light most favorable to the State, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Goodman</u>, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004).

A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the State. Id.

Circumstantial and direct evidence carry equal weight when reviewed by an appellate court. Id. A reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 719, 995 P.2d 107, review denied, 141 Wn.2d 1023 (2000). The reviewing court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, only that substantial evidence exists in the record to support the conviction. Id. at 718.

RCW 9A.52.080 states that a person commits criminal trespass in the second degree "if he or she knowingly enters or remains unlawfully in or upon premises of another under circumstances not constituting criminal trespass in the first degree." Criminal trespass in the first degree is defined as unlawful entry into a building. RCW 9A.52.070.

The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to permit a rational trier of fact to find that Martinez-Casillas knowingly entered or remained unlawfully on Christiansen's premises. When Christiansen left her home shortly before 10:00 a.m., her property

and the window screen on the front of her house were intact and unbroken. 6RP 47-53, 55. When she arrived home at 3:30 p.m. that same day, her laptops, backpack and money were missing, her window screen had been damaged and thrown onto her patio, and the screen's rails were covered with Martinez-Casillas' fingerprints. 5RP 160; 6RP 47-53; 7RP 25; Ex. 14. There was also a smeared handprint across the window, further supporting that it was the point of entry. 5RP 160, 164.

Moreover, the area in front of the window was not a normal path of ingress/egress for passersby or visitors, as it was completely surrounded by a planter bed filled with vegetation and rocks and showed no signs of being tamped down by regular use. 5RP 160-64; 6RP 50-51. The main entry to the house was on a separate side of the house with its own dedicated pathway, making the planter in front of the window an even less legitimate area for someone to be. 5RP 161; 6RP 49-50. There was no lawful reason for Martinez-Casillas' prints to be on the rails, since Christiansen neither knew him nor had she given permission to anyone to do work on the inside or outside of her home prior to the burglary. 6RP 53-54.

Finally, the placement of Martinez-Casillas' fingerprints on the rails indicates that he was not simply touching the surface of the rail while standing on Christiansen's planter bed outside. His left palm print (C) was on the outer edge of one of the rails and his left index finger (D) on the inner surface facing the house, supporting a finding that he had his hands *wrapped around* the rail to take it off. 7RP 30, 32, 33; Ex. 14. His left palm print (A) and right ring finger (B) located on the outer edge and inward-facing surface of the other rail also support a two handed grip all the way around the rail.⁵ 7RP 25-26, 29-30, 32; Ex. 14.

The evidence was sufficient to establish that Martinez-Casillas unlawfully entered the premises, and this Court should affirm his conviction for second degree criminal trespass.

2. PROBABLE CAUSE SUPPORTED THE ISSUANCE OF SEARCH WARRANT #12-859.

Martinez-Casillas claims on appeal that there were insufficient facts to support probable cause for warrant #12-859,

⁵ Although there is no video of latent print examiner Anderson's in-court demonstration of how Martinez-Casillas gripped the rails, based on the direction and placement of the prints, the placement of the prints on Exhibit 14 itself supports the above interpretation. 7RP 29-33.

which authorized seizure of the stolen bicycle.⁶ His claim fails.

Detective Nash's observation of an expensive racing bicycle with a missing wheel in Martinez-Casillas' garage, coupled with Nash's knowledge of bicycles, the true owner's confirmation that the bike in the garage had been stolen from him, and Martinez-Casillas' frequent activity pawning bikes in recent weeks, all supported probable cause to seize the bicycle.

A search warrant may be issued only upon a judicial determination of probable cause. CrR 2.3(c); State v. Cole, 128 Wn.2d 262, 286, 906 P.2d 925 (1995). Probable cause exists where there are facts and circumstances sufficient to establish a reasonable inference that the defendant is probably involved in criminal activity and that evidence of the crime can be found at the place to be searched. State v. Fry, 168 Wn.2d 1, 6, 228 P.3d 1 (2010). Consequently, probable cause requires a nexus between the alleged criminal activity and the place to be searched. State v. Thein, 138 Wn.2d 133, 140, 977 P.2d 582 (1999). Probable cause requires only a *probability* of criminal activity, not a prima facie

⁶ Because of the re-insertion of the omitted fact of initial seizure and excision of unlawfully gained material, <u>supra</u>, it is the modified version of the affidavit for warrant #12-859 that is at issue in this case (Exhibit 10).

·. ·· ·

showing of criminal activity. State v. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d 499, 98 P.3d 1199 (2004).

On appeal, a magistrate's decision to issue a search warrant is afforded "great deference" and reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Vickers, 148 Wn.2d 91, 108, 59 P.3d 58 (2002). When determining whether probable cause existed to issue search warrant, the reviewing court examines only the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued. State v. Murray, 110 Wn.2d 706, 709-10, 757 P.2d 487 (1988). The affidavit supporting the search warrant is viewed in light of common sense, taking into account all the circumstances in the affidavit and drawing commonsense inferences. Maddox, 152 Wn.2d at 509. All doubts concerning the existence of probable cause are resolved in favor of the validity of the warrant. Id.

Here, the affidavit contained more than sufficient evidence from which a magistrate could reasonably infer that the bicycle was stolen. Martinez-Casillas claims that "the sole basis for the search warrant was the officer's opinion that Mr. Martinez-Casillas would not own a bicycle such as the one he observed." App. Br. 10. This

is incorrect. There were multiple facts supporting probable cause: an officer with knowledge of bicycles who was able to recognize that the bike was an expensive racing bicycle; the fact that this expensive bicycle was missing its front wheel (inferring it was stolen); a detailed description of the stolen bicycle from its true owner, who confirmed that the bicycle had been taken from his car; and Detective Raulerson's discovery that Martinez-Casillas had been actively pawning bicycles in recent weeks. Ex. 10 at 7-8.

Martinez-Casillas asserts that *on its own*, an officer's mere suspicion or personal belief that evidence of a crime will be found in a certain place is insufficient to support a finding of probable cause. App. Br. 9-10. See State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 907, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). The State does not argue otherwise. But as shown above in the multiple fact-based statements within the affidavit, that is not the case here. Like Seagull, this affidavit "stated more than a mere personal belief . . . but also the factual, underlying circumstances upon which that belief was premised." Id. at 907.

··· ·

⁷ The trial court noted that even if it were to strike an additional paragraph from the modified affidavit (Ex. 10 at 7) regarding Nash's contact with Hoover, the affidavit would still support a finding of probable cause. 3RP 83.

The cases to which Martinez-Casillas cites do not contain comparable facts. For example, in <u>State v. Spencer</u>, the affidavit merely stated that "[i]t is therefore the writer's opinion that [defendant] does possess amphetamines" along with a single sentence that someone had sold the defendant drugs three months earlier. 9 Wn. App. 95, 96, 510 P.2d 833 (1973). The affidavit here contained facts far in excess of that bare statement of belief.

Furthermore, the affidavit does not, in fact, make a statement anywhere of Detective Nash's *personal* belief that Martinez-Casillas would not own an expensive racing bicycle. It states that Nash is knowledgeable about bicycles and, after seeing the bike in plain view, he knew it was an expensive racing model and was missing a wheel.⁸ Ex. 10 at 7. Nash then followed up on recent thefts of such bicycles, which led him to the bike's true owner and confirmation of its high value and stolen status.⁹ None of this runs afoul of the requirements of probable cause; it actually

⁸ Owner Jeffrey Hoover confirmed its comparatively high value, describing it as "the best bike you can buy." 5RP 116.

... ·· .

⁹ It should be noted that the bike's serial number played no role in confirming ownership, since Hoover did not even know it at the time Nash spoke to him. 2RP 153. Furthermore, even without the photographs showing the small nick in the seat tube, Nash was able to get a detailed description of the bike from Hoover sufficient to verify ownership under the probable cause standard, including its missing wheel. 5RP 119-20, 122-23.

adheres to the requirement for fact-based suspicions and ultimately heightens probable cause in this case.

Finally, Martinez-Casillas argues that it is impermissible for a court to infer that he could not legally own or afford such a bicycle. This overlooks the fact that the reason a magistrate issued a warrant for his home in the first place was to investigate his commission of two recent armed robberies. Martinez-Casillas implies that he could have simply been a financially secure cycling enthusiast and protests that the officer "knew nothing about his hobbies, his income level, his interests or his willingness to spend a substantial sum for a bicycle." App. Br. 10. Given that his financial situation had apparently led him to rob two people at gunpoint that week, it is difficult to imagine that Martinez-Casillas had the income level or willingness to spend \$10,000 on a bicycle, or that he was simply nurturing a hobby involving high-end racing equipment.

The court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the warrant to seize the stolen bicycle. This Court should affirm the conviction for Possession of Stolen Property.

,, ...

D. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the Court should affirm

Martinez-Casillas' convictions.